(Unaudited but reviewed)


Laguna Resorts & Hotels Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Notes to interim financial statements

For the three-month and six-month periods ended 30 June 2011 and 2010
1.
General information

1.1
Corporate information


Laguna Resorts & Hotels Public Company Limited (“the Company”, “LRH”) is a public company incorporated and domiciled in Thailand. Its major shareholder is Banyan Tree Holdings Limited, which was incorporated in Singapore.


The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the hotel business and property development. There are three hotels in Laguna Phuket, namely Sheraton Grande Laguna Phuket, Banyan Tree Phuket and Outrigger Laguna Phuket Resort and Villas, located in Phuket province and one hotel, the Banyan Tree Bangkok, located in Bangkok. The subsidiaries are also engaged in operating a golf club (Laguna Phuket Golf Club), sales of merchandise (Banyan Tree Gallery), office and resort rental and sale of holiday club memberships.


The Company and some of its subsidiaries’ registered address is 21/11, 21/12B, 21/13, 21/65 and 21/66 Thai Wah Tower I, 6th and 22nd Floor, South Sathorn Road, Tungmahamek, Sathorn, Bangkok.


Bangtao Grande Limited, a subsidiary and hotel owner of Sheraton Grande Laguna Phuket, and Sheraton Overseas Management Corporation, the hotel operator mutually ended the hotel management contract on 30 June 2011.  The hotel was closed from 1 July 2011 for extensive renovation and refurbishment and then reopen as the Angsana Laguna Phuket on 1 December 2011 under the management of Angsana Resorts & Hotels, a division of Singapore-based Banyan Tree Hotels & Resorts.
1.2
Basis for the preparation of interim financial statements

These interim financial statements are prepared in accordance with Accounting Standard No. 34 (revised 2009) "Interim Financial Reporting", with the Company choosing to present condensed interim financial statements. However, the Company has presented the statements of financial position, income statement, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders' equity, and cash flows in the same format as that used for the annual financial statements.
The interim financial statements are intended to provide information additional to that included in the latest annual financial statements. Accordingly, they focus on new activities, events and circumstances so as not to duplicate information previously reported. These interim financial statements should therefore be read in conjunction with the latest annual financial statements.


The interim financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory financial statements of the Company. The interim financial statements in English language have been translated from the Thai language financial statements.


1.3
Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Laguna Resorts & Hotels Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries and have been prepared on the same basis as that applied for the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010. There has been a change in the composition of the subsidiaries during the current period as follow.


In February 2011, the Company and TWR-Holdings Limited, a subsidiary, sold Laguna Beach Club Limited (“LBC”), in which the Company and its subsidiary have a 60% shareholding, comprising 1,200,000 shares, to Laguna Phuket Club Limited, as discussed in the Note 9 to the interim financial statements. Upon completion of the transaction on 10 May 2011, LBC and Laguna (1) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of LBC, were no longer the subsidiaries of the Company.


As at 10 May 2011, the net asset value of LBC and Laguna (1) Limited were as follows:
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	Assets
	

	
Cash and bank deposits
	64,258

	
Trade accounts receivable
	12,470

	
Inventories
	4,987

	
Amount due to related parties
	1,807

	
Other current assets
	5,027

	Total current assets
	88,549

	Non-current assets
	

	
Property, plant and equipments - net
	1,337,699

	
Other assets
	24,667

	Total non-current assets
	1,362,366

	Total assets
	1,450,915


(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	Liabilities
	

	
Trade accounts payable
	14,047

	
Advance from related parties
	6,545

	
Income tax payable
	38,132

	
Other current liabilities
	42,202

	Total liabilities
	100,926

	Total net assets
	1,349,989

	Less: Non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries
	(674,995)

	Total net assets - the Company and a subsidiary portion
	674,994

	Selling price - net*
	710,093

	Less: Investment of the Company and a subsidiary portion - net
	(238,615)

	Gain on sale of subsidiaries
	471,478



* Selling price - net is selling price less price adjustment and related expenses.

The percentage of the total assets and total revenues of the major subsidiaries as included in the consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2011 are as follows: 

	
	Percentage of total

assets included in the

consolidated statements
	Percentage of total revenue 

included in the consolidated

	Subsidiaries
	of financial positions
	income statements

	Bangtao Development Limited
	22.15 
	-

	Bangtao Grande Limited
	3.86 
	21.00

	Laguna Banyan Tree Limited
	13.95
	23.21

	Laguna Grande Limited
	11.36 
	4.18

	Laguna Holiday Club Limited
	3.75 
	6.72

	Thai Wah Plaza Limited
	14.23 
	16.92


1.4
Application of new accounting standards during the period


During the current period, the Company adopted a number of revised and new accounting standards, issued by the Federation of Accounting Professions, as listed below. 

Accounting standards:

	TAS 1 (revised 2009)
	Presentation of Financial Statements

	TAS 2 (revised 2009)
	Inventories

	TAS 7 (revised 2009)
	Statement of Cash Flows

	TAS 8 (revised 2009)
	Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

	TAS 10 (revised 2009)
	Events after the Reporting Period

	TAS 11 (revised 2009)
	Construction Contracts

	TAS 16 (revised 2009)
	Property, Plant and Equipment

	TAS 17 (revised 2009)
	Leases

	TAS 18 (revised 2009)
	Revenue

	TAS 19 
	Employee Benefits

	TAS 23 (revised 2009)
	Borrowing Costs

	TAS 24 (revised 2009)
	Related Party Disclosures

	TAS 26 
	Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans

	TAS 27 (revised 2009)
	Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

	TAS 28 (revised 2009)
	Investments in Associates

	TAS 29
	Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

	TAS 31 (revised 2009)
	Interests in Joint Ventures

	TAS 33 (revised 2009)
	Earnings per Share

	TAS 34 (revised 2009)
	Interim Financial Reporting

	TAS 36 (revised 2009)
	Impairment of Assets

	TAS 37 (revised 2009)
	Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

	TAS 38 (revised 2009)
	Intangible Assets

	TAS 40 (revised 2009)
	Investment Property


   
Financial reporting standards:

	TFRS 2 
	Share-Based Payment

	TFRS 3 (revised 2009)
	Business Combinations

	TFRS 5 (revised 2009)
	Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

	TFRS 6
	Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources


Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations:

	TFRIC 15
	Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate


 
Accounting Standard Interpretations:
	SIC 31
	Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services


These accounting standards will not have any significant impact on the financial statements for the current period, except for the following accounting standards.
TAS 16 (revised 2009) Property, Plant and Equipment

According to this accounting standard, an entity which presents its property, plant and equipment (PPE) on a revaluation basis is required to charge depreciation on the total revalued amount to its income statement. Previously, as permitted by the notification of the Federation of Accounting Professions (FAP) No. 25/2549, only the depreciation calculated on the original cost of PPE was charged to the income statement.  In April 2011, the FAP has issued Notification No. 18/2554 regarding the accounting treatment for revaluation. It announced an extension of the allowed accounting treatment for revaluation to the fiscal years beginning on 1 January 2016. In the current period, the Company and its subsidiaries have elected to calculate the amount of depreciation and reversal of surplus to be charged to the income statements based on the original costs of the assets, as previously allowed.
However, had the depreciation charge and reversal of surplus from the disposal been calculated in accordance with TAS 16, profit and earnings per share would have been decreased to the following:
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	For the three-month period ended 30 June

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company per income statements (Thousand Baht)
	198,008
	(190,077)
	(8,803)
	5,525

	Less:
Amortisation of revaluation surplus on assets
	(1,681)
	(8,057)
	-
	(1,213)

	
Reversal of surplus from the disposal
	(426,271)
	-
	-
	-

	Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company (Thousand Baht) after adjustment
	(229,946)
	(198,134)
	(8,803)
	4,312

	
	
	
	
	

	Basic earnings (loss) per share in accordance with TAS 16 (Baht per share)
	
(1.38)
	
(1.19)
	
(0.05)
	
0.03

	Basic earnings (loss) per share in accordance with the allowed method (Baht per share)
	
1.19
	
(1.14)
	
(0.05)
	
0.03

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	For the six-month period ended 30 June

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company per income statements (Thousand Baht)
	502,390
	194,098
	(34,810)
	12,462

	Less:
Amortisation of revaluation surplus on assets
	(3,540)
	(16,114)
	-
	(2,424)

	
Reversal of surplus from the disposal
	(426,271)
	-
	-
	-

	Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company (Thousand Baht) after adjustment
	72,579
	177,984
	(34,810)
	10,038

	
	
	
	
	

	Basic earnings (loss) per share in accordance with TAS 16 (Baht per share)
	
0.44
	
1.07
	
(0.21)
	
0.06

	Basic earnings (loss) per share in accordance with the allowed method (Baht per share)
	
3.01
	
1.16
	
(0.21)
	
0.07


TAS 18 (revised 2009) Revenue

This accounting standard requires entities to recognise revenue from sales of goods, which includes real estate developed for sale, when significant risks and rewards are transferred to the buyer. Previously, the Company and its subsidiaries elected to use the percentage-of-completion method in recognising revenue from real estate sales. The Company and its subsidiaries changed this accounting policy in the current year and restated the prior year’s financial statements, presented for comparative purposes, as though the Company and its subsidiaries initially recognised revenue from real estate sales when the significant risks and rewards were transferred to the buyer. The change has the effect of increasing profit of the Company and its subsidiaries for the three-month and six-month periods ended 30 June 2011 by Baht 4.76 million and Baht 48.42 million, respectively, or 0.03 Baht per share and 0.29 Baht per share, respectively) (Separate financial statements: increasing profit by Baht 5.02 million and Baht 5.02 million, respectively, or 0.03 Baht per share and 0.03 Baht per share, respectively). The cumulative effect of the changes in the accounting policy has been presented in the statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and Note 2 to the interim financial statements.
TAS 19 Employee Benefits

This accounting standard requires employee benefits to be recognised as expense in the period in which the service is performed by the employee. In particular, an entity has to evaluate and make a provision for post-employment benefits and other long-term employee benefits using actuarial techniques. The Company and its subsidiaries previously accounted for such employee benefits when they were incurred. 

The Company and its subsidiaries have changed this accounting policy in the current year and recognise the liability in the transition period through an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings in the current period. The change will have the effect of decreasing the profit of the Company and its subsidiaries for the three-month and six-month periods ended 30 June 2011 by Baht 3.93 million and Baht 7.52 million, respectively, or 0.02 Baht per share and 0.05 Baht per share, respectively) (Separate financial statements: decreasing profit by Baht 0.92 million and Baht 1.85 million, respectively, or 0.001 Baht per share and 0.01 Baht per share, respectively). The cumulative effect of the changes in the accounting policy has been presented in the statements of changes in shareholders’ equity.
TAS 40 (revised 2009) Investment Property

This accounting standard requires entities to choose to recognise investment property either under the cost model (with disclosure of fair value in the notes to financial statements) or the fair value model, whereby changes in fair value are to be recognised in profit or loss. Investment property was previously recognised under the caption of land awaiting for development, which is measured using the cost model and property, plant and equipment, which is measured using the fair value model. In adopting the new accounting policy, the Company and its subsidiaries separately present investment property and measure it using the fair value model, commencing in the current period. The Company and its subsidiaries have recognised the effect of the change in accounting policy as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings for the period. The cumulative effect of the changes in the accounting policy has been presented in the statements of changes in shareholders’ equity.

1.5

Significant accounting policies



The interim financial statements are prepared using the same accounting policies and methods of computation as were used for the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010, except for the changes in the following accounting policies due to the adoption of revised and new accounting standards.
Revenues recognition from real estate sales

Revenues from sales of real estate are recognised as revenues when significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer, and the Company and its subsidiaries retain neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the real estate sold. In addition, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company and its subsidiaries and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Employee benefits


Post-employment benefits (Defined contribution plans)
 
The Company, its subsidiaries and their employees have jointly established a provident fund. The fund is contributed to monthly by employees and by the Company and its subsidiaries. The fund’s assets are held in a separate trust fund and the Company and its subsidiaries contributions are recognised as expenses when incurred.

Post-employment benefits (Defined benefit plans) and other long-term employee benefits
 
The Company and its subsidiaries have obligations in respect of the severance payments it must make to employees upon retirement under labor law and other employee benefit plans. The Company and its subsidiaries treat these severance payment obligations as a defined benefit plan. In addition, the Company and its subsidiaries provide other long-term employee benefit plans, namely long service awards.

The obligation under the defined benefit plan and other long-term employee benefit plans is determined by a professionally qualified independent actuary, using the projected unit credit method. Such determination is made based on various assumptions, including discount rate, future salary increase rate, staff turnover rate, mortality rate, and inflation rates.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from post-employment benefits and other long-term benefits are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
For the first-time adoption of TAS 19 Employee Benefits, the Company elected to recognise the transitional liability, which exceeds the liability that would have been recognised at the same date under the previous accounting policy, through an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings in the current period.
Investment properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the value of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.
On disposal of investment properties, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.

2.

Cumulative effect of change in accounting policy due to the adoption of new accounting standards regarding revenue recognition from real estate sales


During the current period, the Company made the changes to its significant accounting policies described in Note 1.5 to the financial statements, as a result of the adoption of revised and new accounting standards. The cumulative effect of the changes in the accounting policies has been separately presented in the statements of changes in shareholders’ equity.
The amounts of adjustments affecting the statement of financial position as at             31 December 2010 and the income statement for the three-month and six-month periods ended 30 June 2010 are summarised below.
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	31 December 2010

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate  financial statements

	Statements of financial position  
	
	

	Decrease in trade accounts receivable
	(106,976)
	-

	Decrease in long - term  trade accounts receivable
	(328,713)
	(293,162)

	Increase in property development cost
	         264,699
	148,332

	Decrease in investments in associates 
	          (17,485)
	 -

	Increase in other current liabilities
	  139,196
	          72,265

	Decrease in unappropriated retained earnings
	(327,671)
	(217,095)


(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	For three-month period ended 

30 June 2010

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate  financial statements

	Income statements
	
	

	Increase in revenues from property development operations
	23,478
	-

	Increase in cost of property development operations
	8,945
	-

	
	For six-month period ended               30 June 2010

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate  financial statements

	Income statements
	
	

	Increase in revenues from property development operations
	312,559
	-

	Increase in cost of property development operations
	148,903
	327


3.   
New accounting standards issued during the period not yet effective

During the current period, the Federation of Accounting Professions issued the below listed new accounting standards that are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
	Accounting Standard Interpretations:

	SIC 10
	Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to Operating Activities

	SIC 21
	Income Taxes - Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets

	SIC 25
	Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or its Shareholders


4.    Cash and cash equivalents
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated  financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	30 June      2011
	31 December 2010
	30 June      2011
	31 December 2010

	Cash
	4,003
	4,306
	208
	267

	Bank deposits
	363,372
	2,017,088
	23,972
	1,396,982

	Total
	367,375
	2,021,394
	24,180
	1,397,249


5.  
Trade accounts receivable 

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	Consolidated 
	Separate 

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Trade accounts receivable - hotel operations
	151,776
	292,076
	5,508
	8,227

	Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts
	(11,161)
	(14,299)
	(154)
	(1,759)

	Trade accounts receivable - hotel operations, net
	140,615
	277,777
	5,354
	6,468

	Trade accounts receivable - sales of property
	
	
	
	

	   - Installments due
	7,210
	18,538
	3,181
	8,868

	   - Unbilled receivable (not yet due)
	4,000
	9,831
	4,000
	4,000

	Current portion of long-term trade
	
	
	
	

	   accounts receivable (Note 8)
กำหนดชำระในหนึ่งปี (หมายเหตุ 11)
	68,526
	75,616
	13,845
	18,845

	Total
	79,736
	103,985
	21,026
	31,713

	Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts
	
	
	
	

	            - Trade accounts receivable - sales of property
	(2,120)
	(5,228)
	(1,333)
	-

	            - Current portion of long-term trade 
	
	
	
	

	                accounts receivable (Note 8)
	(2,169)
	-
	-
	-

	Trade accounts receivable - sales of property, net
	75,447
	98,757
	19,693
	31,713

	Trade accounts receivable - sales of holiday club
	
	
	
	

	   memberships - Installments due
	30,884
	32,398
	-
	-

	Current portion of long-term trade  accounts
	
	
	
	

	   receivable (Note 8)
กำหนดชำระในหนึ่งปี (หมายเหตุ 11)
	81,468
	97,624
	-
	-

	Total
	112,352
	130,022
	-
	-

	Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts
	(2,600)
	(2,600)
	-
	-

	Trade accounts receivable - sales of holiday club
	
	
	
	

	   memberships, net
	109,752
	127,422
	-
	-

	Trade accounts receivable - net
	325,814
	503,956
	25,047
	38,181


The balances of trade accounts receivable - hotel operations, aged on the basis of due dates, are summarised below.
 (Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
	Separate 

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Age of receivables
	
	
	
	

	Not yet due
	23,841
	115,505
	472
	2,587

	Past due
	
	
	
	

	   Up to 30 days
	60,130
	105,625
	686
	2,453

	   31 - 60 days
	11,507
	27,860
	2,078
	684

	   61 - 90 days
	7,720
	7,576
	290
	574

	   91 - 120 days
	5,394
	10,979
	1,597
	97

	Over 120 days 
	43,184
	24,531
	385
	1,832

	Total
	151,776
	292,076
	5,508
	8,227

	Less: Allowance for doubtful debts
	(11,161)
	(14,299)
	(154)
	(1,759)

	Trade accounts receivable - hotel 
	
	
	
	

	   operations, net
	140,615
	277,777
	5,354
	6,468


The balances of installments due of trade accounts receivable - sales of property  operations, aged on the basis of due dates, are summarised below.

 (Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
	Separate 

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Age of receivables
	
	
	
	

	Past due
	
	
	
	

	Up to 30 days
	1,696
	8,937
	1,186
	8,134

	31 - 60 days
	707
	1,193
	361
	481

	61 - 90 days
	511
	1,221
	294
	246

	91 - 120 days
	511
	524
	294
	-

	Over 120 days 
	3,785
	6,663
	1,046
	7

	Total
	7,210
	18,538
	3,181
	8,868

	Less: Allowance for doubtful debts
	(2,120)
	(5,228)
	(1,333)
	-

	Trade accounts receivable - sales of property
	
	
	
	

	   - installment due, net
	5,090
	13,310
	1,848
	8,868


The balances of installments due of trade accounts receivable - holiday club members, aged on the basis of due dates, are summarised below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
	Separate 

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Age of receivables
	
	
	
	

	Past due
	
	
	
	

	Up to 30 days
	10,878
	17,938
	-
	-

	31 - 60 days
	1,563
	1,842
	-
	-

	61 - 90 days
	1,218
	1,499
	-
	-

	91 - 120 days
	1,825
	1,169
	-
	-

	Over 120 days 
	15,400
	9,950
	-
	-

	Total
	30,884
	32,398
	-
	-

	Less: Allowance for doubtful debts
	(2,600)
	(2,600)
	-
	-

	Trade accounts receivable - sales of holiday
	
	
	
	

	   club members - installment due, net
	28,284
	29,798
	-
	-


6.      Related party transactions

During the period, the Company and its subsidiaries had significant business transactions with related parties. Such transactions, which are summarised below, arose in the ordinary course of business and were concluded on commercial terms and agreed upon basis between the Company, its subsidiaries and related parties.  

(Unit: Million Baht)
	
	Consolidated
	Separate
	

	
	financial statements
	financial statements
	

	
	For the three-month period ended 30 June
	

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010
	Transfer pricing policy

	Transactions with subsidiaries
	
	
	

	(eliminated from the consolidated financial statements)
	
	
	

	Credit card commission receipts
	-
	-
	-
	0.1
	(3) agreed basis

	Inter resort receipts
	-
	-
	-
	1.8
	(4) agreed basis

	Inter resort payments
	-
	-
	0.5
	3.0
	(4) agreed basis

	Estate service expenses
	-
	-
	0.4
	0.2
	(5) at market price

	Guarantee fee income
	-
	-
	0.2
	0.2
	(6) agreed basis

	Guarantee fee expenses
	-
	-
	1.4
	-
	(6) agreed basis

	Interest income
	-
	-
	28.5
	23.0
	(9) agreement

	Interest expenses
	-
	-
	9.8
	6.7
	(9) agreement


(Unit: Million Baht)
	
	Consolidated
	Separate
	

	
	financial statements
	financial statements
	

	
	For the three-month period ended 30 June
	

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010
	Transfer pricing policy

	Transactions with subsidiaries (continued)
	
	
	

	Management fee income
	-
	-
	1.1
	-
	(20) agreement

	Reimbursement receipts
	-
	-
	13.6
	5.5
	(15) agreed basis

	Reimbursement payments
	-
	-
	4.9
	5.7
	(15) agreed basis

	Rent and service income
	-
	-
	2.6
	2.6
	(16)(i), (iii) agreement

	Rent and service expenses
	-
	-
	4.6
	3.6
	(16)(iv), (v), (vi), (xii)

	
	
	
	
	
	
agreement

	Resort service expenses
	-
	-
	2.5
	9.9
	(18) agreed basis

	Sale of property, plant and 

   equipment
	-
	-
	0.1
	-
	at net book value

	Dividend received
	-
	-
	-
	54.2
	as declared

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Transactions with associate
	
	
	
	
	

	Inter resort receipts
	0.5
	0.7
	-
	-
	 (4) agreed basis

	Reimbursement receipts
	1.0
	1.1
	-
	-
	(15) agreed basis

	Reimbursement payments
	0.2
	0.7
	-
	-
	(15) agreed basis

	Rent and service expenses
	0.2
	0.1
	-
	-
	(16)(i) agreement

	Sale of goods
	0.1
	1.1
	-
	-
	(13)(ii) agreed basis 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Transactions with related companies
	
	
	
	

	Commission income earned from spa 
	0.1
	0.1
	-
	-
	(2) agreed basis

	Credit card commission receipts
	0.3
	0.3
	-
	-
	(3) agreed basis

	Inter resort  payments
	19.3
	18.0
	-
	1.8
	(4) agreed basis

	Management fee income
	0.3
	0.3
	0.3
	0.3
	(1) agreement

	Management fee expenses
	25.4
	19.6
	-
	-
	 (10), (19) agreement

	Sale of gallery vouchers
	1.2
	0.2
	-
	-
	(12) agreed basis

	Purchase of spa vouchers
	1.5
	0.7
	0.3
	-
	(12) agreed basis

	Sale of goods
	9.8
	6.4
	-
	-
	(13)(i), (ii) agreed basis

	Reimbursement receipts
	11.5
	23.2
	1.1
	2.1
	(15) agreed basis

	Reimbursement payments
	15.1
	13.4
	2.4
	1.8
	(15) agreed basis

	Rent and service income
	12.1
	9.8
	-
	0.3
	(16)(i), (iv), (vii), (viii), (ix), (x) agreement

	Rent and service expenses
	0.2
	0.2
	-
	-
	(16)(ii) agreement

	Rental return on hotel units 
	1.1
	1.0
	-
	-
	(17) agreement

	Resort service income
	1.9
	1.6
	-
	-
	(18) agreed basis

	Spa service expenses
	-
	0.3
	-
	-
	(7) agreed basis

	Training charges
	0.8
	4.5
	0.2
	2.5
	(14) agreed basis


(Unit: Million Baht)
	
	Consolidated
	Separate
	

	
	Financial statements
	financial statements
	

	
	For the three-month period ended 30 June
	

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010
	Transfer pricing policy

	Transactions with management and directors
	
	
	

	Interest income
	0.6
	0.9
	0.5
	1.0
	(8) agreement

	Rent expense
	0.3
	-
	-
	-
	(16)(xi) agreement


(Unit: Million Baht)
	
	Consolidated
	Separate
	

	
	Financial statements
	financial statements
	

	
	For the six-month period ended 30 June
	

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010
	Transfer pricing policy

	Transactions with subsidiaries
	
	
	

	(eliminated from the consolidated financial statements)
	
	
	

	Credit card commission receipts
	-
	-
	-
	0.3
	(3) agreed basis

	Inter resort receipts
	-
	-
	-
	5.0
	(4) agreed basis

	Inter resort payments
	-
	-
	0.9
	11.4
	(4) agreed basis

	Estate service expenses
	-
	-
	0.6
	0.5
	(5) at market price

	Guarantee fee income
	-
	-
	0.5
	0.5
	(6) agreed basis

	Guarantee fee expenses
	-
	-
	2.5
	-
	(6) agreed basis

	Interest income
	-
	-
	56.6
	48.4
	(9) agreement

	Interest expenses
	-
	-
	17.8
	12.9
	(9) agreement

	Management fee income
	-
	-
	1.1
	-
	(20) agreement

	Purchase of gallery vouchers
	-
	-
	1.4
	1.6
	(12) agreed basis

	Purchase of goods
	-
	-
	0.1
	0.1
	(13)(i) agreed basis

	Reimbursement receipts
	-
	-
	24.2
	9.7
	(15) agreed basis

	Reimbursement payments
	-
	-
	9.0
	10.0
	(15) agreed basis

	Rent and service income
	-
	-
	5.1
	5.1
	(16)(i), (iii) agreement

	Rent and service expenses
	-
	-
	8.2
	7.2
	(16)(iv), (v), (vi), (xii)

	
	
	
	
	
	
agreement

	Resort service expenses
	
	
	4.9
	21.5
	(18) agreed basis

	Sale of property, plant and 

   equipment
	-
	-
	0.1
	-
	at net book value

	Dividend received
	-
	-
	-
	54.2
	as declared

	
	
	
	
	
	


(Unit: Million Baht)
	
	Consolidated
	Separate
	

	
	Financial statements
	financial statements
	

	
	For the six-month period ended 30 June
	

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010
	Transfer pricing policy

	Transactions with associate
	
	
	
	
	

	Inter resort receipts
	1.5
	1.1
	-
	-
	 (4) agreed basis

	Reimbursement receipts
	2.3
	2.3
	-
	-
	(15) agreed basis

	Reimbursement payments
	0.5
	1.3
	-
	-
	(15) agreed basis

	Rent and service expenses
	0.3
	0.2
	-
	-
	(16)(i) agreement

	Sale of gallery vouchers
	0.4
	0.4
	-
	-
	(12) agreed basis

	Sale of goods
	0.1
	2.2
	-
	-
	(13)(ii) agreed basis 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Transactions with related companies
	
	
	
	

	Commission income earned from spa 
	0.3
	0.3
	-
	-
	(2) agreed basis

	Credit card commission receipts
	0.7
	0.7
	-
	0.1
	(3) agreed basis

	Inter resort  payments
	52.3
	55.3
	-
	5.6
	(4) agreed basis

	Management fee income
	0.5
	0.5
	0.5
	0.5
	(1) agreement

	Management fee expenses
	80.2
	72.0
	-
	-
	 (10), (19) agreement

	Sale of gallery vouchers
	4.7
	5.1
	-
	-
	(12) agreed basis

	Purchase of spa vouchers
	          6.2
	6.4
	2.4
	2.4
	(12) agreed basis

	Sale of goods
	15.8
	14.6
	-
	-
	(13)(i), (ii) agreed basis

	Purchase of goods
	0.1
	-
	-
	-
	 50% off retail price

	Reimbursement receipts
	25.7
	40.9
	2.8
	6.6
	(15) agreed basis

	Reimbursement payments
	        34.6
	30.6
	3.0
	1.9
	(15) agreed basis

	Rent and service income
	23.9
	21.0
	-
	0.7
	(16)(i), (iv), (vii), (viii), (ix), (x) agreement

	Rent and service expenses
	0.3
	0.2
	-
	-
	(16)(ii) agreement

	Rental return on hotel units 
	2.1
	2.0
	-
	-
	(17) agreement

	Resort service income
	3.9
	3.5
	-
	-
	(18) agreed basis

	Spa service expenses
	0.1
	0.4
	-
	-
	(7) agreed basis

	Training charges
	3.4
	15.8
	0.7
	13.2
	(14) agreed basis

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Transactions with management and directors
	
	
	

	Interest income
	1.3
	1.8
	1.0
	2.0
	(8) agreement

	Sale of property
	-
	36.1
	-
	-
	at market price

	Termination of property sold 
	-
	120.8
	-
	120.8
	(11) at market price

	Rental expense
	0.4
	-
	-
	-
	(16)(xi) agreement


The nature, pricing policy and agreements relating to the above transactions are summarised as follows:

(1)
The Company charges a management fee to Banyan Tree Resorts & Spas (Thailand) Company Limited for providing administration services of information technology, human resources and maid. The monthly fee is Baht 65,000 and an additional Baht 300 per person for internet services.
(2)
These charges relate to commissions earned by Laguna Beach Resort (Laguna Beach Club Limited) and Outrigger Laguna Phuket Resort & Villas (Laguna Village Limited) for bringing in their hotel guests to use the services of the Angsana Spa or Banyan Tree Spa. This commission is paid by the Spa to incentivise the hotels to promote the Spas’ facilities to their guests. The rates charged range from 5% to 10% of spa revenue.

(3)
 As noted in (4) below these commissions relate to instances where monies are received in a different company in which the revenue was earned. As credit card commissions are deducted from the gross receipts of customers, this transaction passes on the cost to the company in which the revenue is recognised. The rates charged range from 2% to 4% of the revenue and are based on the commissions charged by the credit card companies.

(4)
These charges relate to goods and services that are consumed by customers in one part of Laguna Phuket but are billed centrally to the customer at the hotel at which the customer is staying. Such charges relate to meals at restaurants, golf fees, treatments at the spa and goods purchased at shops in the resort. On receiving the funds centrally from the customer, the hotel reimburses the company in which the goods and services are consumed. Actual receipts are paid and handling charges are not charged with the exception of credit card commission which is disclosed separately in (3) above. Such inter resort charges are also incurred at the Banyan Tree Bangkok and Banyan Tree Lijiang primarily for treatments at the spa and goods purchased at the shops.

(5)
Estate maintenance and service charges by Laguna Grande Limited in respect of providing services such as pool cleaning service, gardening service, etc to residential projects in Laguna Phuket which are charged at market price.

(6)
Guarantee fee among group companies for permitting their assets to be pledged as collateral for other related companies’ bank loans by charging on 1% of proportion of value of pledged assets to total loan facilities.

(7)
This relates to the purchase of spa vouchers by Laguna Holiday Club Limited from Banyan Tree Resorts & Spas (Thailand) Company Limited which is priced at a 40% discount to the Spa price list.
(8)
Financial assistance provided to employees for acquisition of a property developed by the Company or its subsidiaries. A staff advance of 10% of selling price of a property is funded by the employee’s employer and is repayable by the employee over a period of 5 years with monthly repayments consisting of both interest and principal. A loan by the developer equal to 80% of selling price is to be settled in full with the property developer within 5 years of the property completion. Both advance and loan are subject to interest at the group’s cost of funds plus 0.5% per annum.

(9)
Loans to subsidiaries and between group companies are unsecured and are denominated in Thai Baht. The loans carry interest at a rate equal to the lenders’ borrowing costs per annum (based upon commercial bank’s interest rates) plus a margin of 1.1%. The loans are repayable on demand, however it is expected that those loans would not be called for repayment in the short-term. Therefore such loans are recorded as non-current assets/liabilities in the statements of financial position.

(10)
The terms of the operating agreements are disclosed in Note 19 and consist of a royalty agreement, hotel management agreement and technical assistance agreement. The payment terms of the contracts are as follows:



Royalty fee paid to Banyan Tree Hotels & Resorts Pte. Ltd. for the use of “Banyan Tree” trademark and all other proprietary rights associated with it.
(i)
Banyan Tree Phuket (Laguna Banyan Tree Limited) pays a royalty fee of 2%  of total revenue.
(ii)   
Banyan Tree Bangkok (Thai Wah Plaza Limited) pays a royalty fee of 3% of total revenue.


Hotel management and technical assistance fees paid to Banyan Tree Resorts & Spas (Thailand) Company Limited.
(iii)
The Technical Assistance Agreement of the Banyan Tree Phuket pays a technical fee of 7.5% of gross operating profit. 

(iv)
The Technical Assistance Agreement to conduct the golf business pays a basic technical fee of 3% of total revenue and an incentive fee of 10% of gross operating profit.

(v)
The Hotel Management Agreement of the Banyan Tree Bangkok pays a hotel management fee of 10% of gross operating profit. 

(vi)   
In addition, pursuant to the hotel management and technical assistance agreements, expenses relating to the sharing of group marketing costs such as promotional campaigns and adverts, sales staff salaries, central reservations and international sales offices incurred by the Banyan Tree corporate head office shall be charged as follows:  

-
Group marketing services shared on a group basis are based on 1.75% of actual hotel revenues plus a share of operating cost of Regional Marketing offices (2010: 3% of the budgeted revenues).

-
Group reservation fees are 1% of room revenue plus USD 12 (2010: Baht 450) per booking sourced through third party channels and no charging (2010: Baht 400) per direct booking to Banyan Tree Group. 

All management fees are consistent with industry practice and the sharing of group marketing costs incurred by Banyan Tree Phuket and Banyan Tree Bangkok are the reimbursement of costs benefiting each of the hotels. As a result these transactions are on normal commercial terms and conditions.

(11) This transaction related to a connected person terminating a property sale contract with the Company that was previously entered into and of which revenue was recognised in 2007. The Company recorded a loss from the termination of the property sale in the income statements.

(12)
Purchase of Banyan Tree Spa and Banyan Tree Gallery vouchers for distribution to management to provide an additional benefit scheme. The vouchers are issued yearly to qualifying executives and are valid only within the year of issue. The voucher is priced at the face value of the voucher. 

(13)
These transactions relate to:


(i)
Sale of goods from Banyan Tree Gallery (Thailand) Limited to related companies are priced at a 15% to 65% discount to the retail price depending on the volume purchased.


(ii)
Sale of guest and spa supplies of high volume purchases from companies which operate galleries to related companies is priced at cost plus 25% to 60% margin (2010: 25% to 55% margin).

(14)
Training charges by Banyan Tree Resorts & Spas (Thailand) Company Limited in respect of providing centralised training facilities and courses for staff. The training costs are allocated to each operation based on actual cost.

(15)
Costs are often incurred within the group which is reimbursed by the company to which the expense relates. Actual costs are reimbursed with no handling costs applied.

(16) Rental paid for premises and land. The rental periods are not over three years, except some transactions as stated in (16)(i).


(i)
Rental and service fee is on the basis of 5% to 10% of sales revenue which is dependent on criteria such as the location, budgeted sales, term of the lease, size of area leased and type of operation.



Payee
Payer
Rental Period
Expiry Date



  
BGL
BTRS(T)
30 years
November 2028



LBTL
BTRS(T)
10 years
December 2015


         LRH
BTRS(T)
30 years
March 2030*

BGL
:
Bangtao Grande Limited


BTRS(T)
:
Banyan Tree Resorts & Spas (Thailand) Company Limited


LBTL
:
Laguna Banyan Tree Limited

            * Terminated in October 2010 due to the divestment of Dusit Thani Laguna Phuket

(ii)
Rental and service fee for Banyan Tree Gallery (Singapore)’s office, monthly rental is SGD 1,820 for 53 square metres. 
(iii) Rental of space and service in Canal Village.  The charges include rental and related service fees which are at market rate.

(iv) Rental and service income earned by Thai Wah Plaza Limited for renting the office space at Thai Wah Tower I and II. The charges include rental and related service fees which are at market rate.
(v) 
Rental of land and lagoon on which hotel and hotel-related operations are located are at Baht 113,908 (2010: Baht 108,484) and Baht 11,391 (2010: Baht 10,849) per rai per annum respectively.
(vi) The rental fee related to the use of Laguna Service Company Limited’s marquee which is at the determined price and actual usage. 
(vii) Rental and service income for Angsana shop in hotel is on the basis of Baht 1,300 per square metre per month.

(viii)
Rental of land on which Spa premises are located is on the basis of Baht 0.7 million (2010: Baht 0.6 million) per annum.

(ix)
Rental and service income for space in Banyan Tree Phuket for Banyan Tree Spa office and store is at Baht 1,105 (2010: Baht 1,052) per square metre per month.

(x)
Service income from rental of Banyan Tree Management Academy is at Baht 125,000 per month.
(xi)
Rental of property for using as a model display home of the Laguna Property Sales division which is at Baht 70,000 per month.
(xii)
Rental of central storage is charged at Baht 300 per square metre per month.
(17)
This relates to a Management Agreement to manage the hotel units of Cheer Golden Limited in the Angsana Resort & Spa on Bintan Island, Indonesia under which Cheer Golden Limited receives a return of 15% per annum on the investment of the leasehold rights.

(18)
Resort service charged to the operations relates to revenue of Laguna Service Company Limited which provides centralised services to each operation in the group located at Laguna Phuket at the following rates:

-
Water supply
:
at the determined price and actual usage

-
Laundry charge
:
at the price based on cost plus a certain 
margin

-
Common area services, 
:
based on actual cost


  transportation charges


-  
Staff buses
:
at the price based on cost plus a certain 
margin

-
Marketing fee
:   at the rate of 1% of the operations’ actual revenue (2010: 1% of the budgeted revenue)
- 
Community service
:   based on actual cost
(19) 
This relates to architectural and interior design services by Banyan Tree Hotels & Resorts Pte. Ltd. The fees are based on construction cost at progressive rates which depend on type of services and type of constructions. The fees are consistent with industry practice. As a result, these transactions are on normal commercial terms and conditions.
(20)
The Company provides project management services, the contracted fee is set at a rate of 5% of the actual or budgeted costs of the project.

The Company has contingent liabilities in respect of letters of guarantee issued to banks to guarantee facilities of its subsidiaries as follows: 

(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	30 June 2011
	31 December 2010

	Long-term loan facilities
	-
	300.00

	Overdrafts and bank guarantee facilities
	105.70
	105.70


Subsidiaries have contingent liabilities in respect of letters of guarantee issued to banks to guarantee facilities of the Company and other subsidiaries as follows: 

(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	30 June 2011
	31 December 2010

	Long-term loan facilities
	-
	600.00

	Short-term loan facilities
	170.00
	170.00

	Overdrafts and bank guarantee facilities
	10.00
	10.00


The significant outstanding balances owing from/to its related companies have been separately shown in the statements of financial position as follows:

Amounts due from related parties
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
	Separate 

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	

	
Bangtao Grande Limited
	-
	-
	10,586
	110

	
Laguna Banyan Tree Limited
	-
	-
	7,019
	4,648

	
Laguna Grande Limited
	-
	-
	567
	1,466

	
Laguna Service Company Limited
	-
	-
	848
	673

	
Laguna Holiday Club Limited
	-
	-
	1,182
	859

	
Laguna Lakes Limited
	-
	-
	63,135
	51,805

	
TWR - Holdings Limited
	-
	-
	359
	2,464

	
Thai Wah Plaza Limited
	-
	-
	579
	-

	
Laguna Excursions Limited
	-
	-
	3,164
	-

	
Others
	-
	-
	548
	600

	
	-
	-
	87,987
	62,625


(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
	Separate 

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Associate
	
	
	
	

	
Lijiang Banyan Tree Hotel Co. Ltd.
	9,509
	9,108
	1,595
	-

	Related companies
	
	
	
	

	
Banyan Tree Investments Pte. Ltd. 


   (Previously named “Banyan Tree 


   Properties Pte. Ltd.”)
	3,620
	3,329
	1,602
	-

	
Banyan Tree Resorts & Spas 
	
	
	
	

	
   (Thailand) Company Limited
	1,863
	2,669
	-
	-

	
Banyan Tree Hotels & Resorts Pte. Ltd.
	7,227
	10,778
	375
	375

	
Banyan Tree Holdings Limited
	3,830
	2,167
	3,745
	2,148

	
Banyan Tree Global Foundation Limited
	-
	1,195
	-
	-

	
Banyan Tree (Private) Limited
	2,495
	3,570
	-
	-

	
Banyan Tree Spas (HK) Limited
	4,837
	5,897
	-
	-

	
Banyan Tree Resorts & Spas (Morocco) S.A.
	1,000
	807
	206
	206

	
Banyan Tree Spas Pte. Ltd.
	8,342
	9,548
	-
	-

	
Banyan Tree Resorts (Seychelles) Limited
	1,071
	1,673
	35
	35

	
Heritage Spas Dubai LLC
	6,448
	2,902
	-
	-

	
Jiwa Renga Resorts Limited
	1,547
	1,447
	-
	-

	
LVCL (Thailand) Company Limited
	19
	5,514
	-
	2,316

	
Maldives Bay Pvt. Ltd.
	19
	2,200
	-
	-

	
PT Bintan Hotels
	6,306
	6,373
	-
	-

	    Banyan Tree Indochina Pte. Ltd.
	4,494
	-
	-
	-

	
Others
	3,282
	4,048
	18
	2

	
	56,400
	64,117
	5,981
	5,082

	Total
	65,909
	73,225
	95,563
	67,707


Long-term loans to subsidiaries
During the six-month period ended 30 June 2011, movements of long-term loans to subsidiaries were as follows: 








 (Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial  statements 

	
	31 December 2010
	Addition
	Repayment
	30 June      2011

	Laguna (3) Limited
	1,120
	500
	(1,620)
	-

	Laguna Banyan Tree Limited
	1,017,850
	287,250
	(88,500)
	1,216,600

	Laguna Holiday Club Limited
	190,850
	97,000
	(62,850)
	225,000

	Laguna Lakes Limited
	416,701
	24,300
	-
	441,001

	TWR - Holdings Limited
	608,170
	333,350
	(919,520)
	22,000

	Total
	2,234,691
	742,400
	(1,072,490)
	1,904,601


Long-term loans to employees

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	Employees of the companies
	Consolidated  financial statements

	
	31 December 2010
	Addition
	Repayment
	30 June    2011

	Laguna Resorts & Hotels Public         Company Limited
	7,391
	-
	(1,661)
	5,730

	Laguna Banyan Tree Limited
	1,755
	-
	(367)
	1,388

	Laguna Grande Limited
	2,887
	-
	(702)
	2,185

	Laguna Holiday Club Limited
	2,181
	-
	(1,600)
	581

	Laguna Service Company Limited
	1,526
	-
	(368)
	1,158

	Total
	15,740
	-
	(4,698)
	11,042


(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	Employees of the company
	Separate  financial statements 

	
	31 December 2010
	Addition
	Repayment
	30 June  2011

	Laguna Resorts & Hotels Public         
	
	
	
	

	
Company Limited
	7,391
	-
	(1,661)
	5,730


Long-term loans to employees are in respect of property purchased under the Group’s employee financing scheme and are charged interest at the rate of the Group’s cost of funds plus a margin of 0.5%. The loans are repayable within 5 years commencing from the date on which the loan is drawn down.
Amounts due to related parties
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
	Separate  

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	

	  Laguna Service Company Limited
	-
	-
	784
	1,443

	  Laguna Grande Limited
	-
	-
	3,393
	2,349

	  Bangtao Grande Limited
	-
	-
	866
	1,410

	  Laguna Banyan Tree Limited
	-
	-
	334
	292

	  Thai Wah  Plaza Limited
	-
	-
	884
	1,255

	  Laguna Excursions Limited
	-
	-
	290
	182

	  Laguna Beach Club Limited
	-
	-
	-
	1,692

	  Banyan Tree Gallery (Thailand) Limited
	-
	-
	913
	-

	  Bangtao Development Limited
	-
	-
	2,038
	-

	  Phuket Resort Development Limited
	-
	-
	530
	-

	  TWR - Holdings Limited
	-
	-
	1,077
	-

	  Others
	-
	-
	519
	275

	
	-
	-
	11,628
	8,898


(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
	Separate  

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Related companies
	
	
	
	

	  Banyan Tree Resorts & Spa

	
	
	
	

	     (Thailand) Company Limited
	87,403
	72,916
	19,558
	15,062

	  Banyan Tree Spas Pte. Ltd.
	1,721
	1,340
	1,447
	1,339

	  Banyan Tree Hotels & Resorts Pte. Ltd.
	14,331
	17,509
	5,838
	7,177

	  Others
	567
	418
	-
	-

	
	104,022
	92,183
	26,843
	23,578

	Total
	104,022
	92,183
	38,471
	32,476


Long-term loans from subsidiaries
During the six-month period ended 30 June 2011, movements of long-term loans from subsidiaries were as follows:

 (Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements 

	
	31 December 2010
	Addition
	Repayment
	30 June       2011

	Laguna Grande Limited
	798,940
	436,050
	(335,150)
	899,840


Directors and management’s benefits

The Company and its subsidiaries had salaries, bonuses, meeting allowances and other benefits of directors and management recognised as expenses for the three- month and six-month periods ended 30 June 2011 of Baht 21.78 million and Baht 46.72 million, respectively (2010: Baht 25.89 million and Baht 53.72 million, respectively) (Separate financial statements: Baht 16.41 million and Baht 35.59 million, respectively 2010: Baht 18.48 million and Baht 38.93 million, respectively).  
Guarantee obligations with related parties

The Company has outstanding guarantee obligations with its related parties, as described in Note 20 b) to the interim financial statements.
7.
Property development cost 

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	Consolidated 
	Separate 

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Property for sale under holiday club memberships
	472,572
	486,272
	-
	-

	Completed buildings
	1,127,906
	1,075,037
	312,073
	322,323

	Land
	699,270
	699,530
	3,956
	4,271

	Leasehold land
	44,041
	44,041
	-
	-

	Property under construction
	582,889
	558,843
	2,267
	2,075

	
	2,926,678
	2,863,723
	318,296
	328,669

	Less: Allowance for diminution in market value 
	
	
	
	

	          of property under construction
	(91,418)
	(91,418)
	-
	-

	Property development cost - net
	2,835,260
	2,772,305
	318,296
	328,669



Subsidiaries have mortgaged property development cost amounting to Baht 391.45 million (2010: Baht 312.84 million) as collateral against its credit facilities received from financial institutions.
8.
Long-term trade accounts receivable 


Long-term trade accounts receivable consist of:

8.1
Secured financing provided to customers of property sales which are denominated in United States Dollars and bear interest at a rate of 5% per annum over the Singapore Inter Bank Offered Rate (SIBOR). The loan periods vary from 5 to 15 years. 
8.2
Installments receivable from property sales which bear interest at a rate of 7% - 12%, MLR plus 0.5%-1% and the group’s cost of fund plus 0.5% per annum and installments are repaid over a period of 3 to 15 years.
8.3
Installments receivable from sales of holiday club memberships which bear interest at a rate of 7.5% to 9% per annum and installments are repaid over a period of 2 to 5 years.

Long-term trade accounts receivable are due as follows:










(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	30 June 2011
	31 December 2010

	
	Loan
	Installment
	
	Loan
	Installment
	

	
	receivable
	receivable
	Total
	receivable
	receivable
	Total

	Current portion of long-term trade 
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
accounts receivable
	318
	149,676
	149,994
	1,063
	172,177
	173,240

	Long-term trade accounts receivable
	-
	202,345
	202,345
	-
	230,877
	230,877

	Total 
	318
	352,021
	352,339
	1,063
	403,054
	404,117

	Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts
	-
	(2,169)
	(2,169)
	-
	-
	-

	Net
	318
	349,852
	350,170
	1,063
	403,054
	404,117

	Sales of property 
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Within one year (Note 5)
	318
	68,208
	68,526
	1,063
	74,553
	75,616

	
Between 2 - 5 years
	-
	121,753
	121,753
	-
	135,519
	135,519

	
Over 5 years
	-
	25,007
	25,007
	-
	31,430
	31,430

	Long-term trade accounts receivable
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
- sales of property
	318
	214,968
	215,286
	1,063
	241,502
	242,565

	Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts
	
	
	
	
	
	

	         (Note 5)
	-
	(2,169)
	(2,169)
	-
	-
	-

	Net
	318
	212,799
	213,117
	1,063
	241,502
	242,565

	Sales of holiday club memberships
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Within one year (Note 5)
	-
	81,468
	81,468
	-
	97,624
	97,624

	
Between 2 - 5 years
	-
	55,585
	55,585
	-
	63,928
	63,928

	Long-term trade accounts receivable -
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
sales of holiday club memberships
	-
	137,053
	137,052
	-
	161,552
	161,552

	Total
	318
	349,852
	350,170
	1,063
	403,054
	404,117


(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	30 June 2011
	31 December 2010

	
	Loan
	Installment
	
	Loan
	Installment
	

	
	receivable
	receivable
	Total
	receivable
	receivable
	Total

	Current portion of long-term trade 
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
accounts receivable
	-
	13,845
	13,845
	-
	18,845
	18,845

	Long-term trade accounts receivable
	-
	41,414
	41,414
	-
	43,316
	43,316

	Total
	-
	55,259
	55,259
	-
	62,161
	62,161

	Sales of property 
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Within one year (Note 5)
	-
	13,845
	13,845
	-
	18,845
	18,845

	
Between 2 - 5 years
	-
	36,098
	36,098
	-
	36,733
	36,733

	
Over 5 years
	-
	5,316
	5,316
	-
	6,583
	6,583

	Long-term trade accounts receivable -
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
- sales of property
	-
	55,259
	55,259
	-
	62,161
	62,161


9.
Investments in subsidiaries 

Details of investments in subsidiaries as presented in separate financial statements are as follows:
	Company’s name
	Paid-up capital
	Shareholding percentage
	Cost

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	
	Million 
	Million 
	%
	%
	Million 
	Million 

	
	Baht
	Baht
	
	
	Baht
	Baht

	Subsidiaries held  by the Company
	
	
	
	
	

	Banyan Tree Gallery (Singapore) 
	SGD 0.43 
	SGD 0.43 
	
	
	
	

	   Pte Limited
	Million
	Million
	51
	51
	4.0
	4.0

	Banyan Tree Gallery (Thailand) Limited
	7.8
	7.8
	51
	51
	4.0
	4.0

	Laguna Banyan Tree Limited(1)
	500.0
	500.0
	100
	100
	835.1
	835.1

	Laguna Beach Club Limited(2)
	-
	200.0
	-
	60
	-
	85.0

	Laguna Holiday Club Limited
	330.0
	330.0
	100
	100
	330.0
	330.0

	Laguna Grande Limited
	1,000.0
	1,000.0
	100
	100
	914.4
	914.4

	Laguna Lakes Limited
	1.0
	1.0
	95
	95
	0.9
	0.9

	Laguna Service Company Limited(3)
	90.5
	90.5
	73
	89
	22.4
	22.4

	Laguna (3) Limited
	0.1
	0.1
	100
	100
	46.4
	46.4

	TWR - Holdings Limited
	1,250.0
	1,250.0
	100
	100
	1,250.0
	1,250.0

	Subsidiaries held through TWR - Holdings Limited
	
	
	
	
	

	Laguna Excursions Limited
	8.0
	8.0
	49
	49
	-
	                -

	Laguna Village Limited 
	6.0
	6.0
	100
	100
	-
	-

	Mae Chan Property Company Limited
	232.3
	232.3
	100
	100
	-
	                -

	Pai Samart Development Company Limited
	28.4
	28.4
	100
	100
	-
	      -

	Phuket Resort Development Limited
	41.4
	41.4
	100
	100
	-
	                -

	PT AVC Indonesia
	USD 0.7

Million
	USD 0.7

Million
	100
	100
	-
	                -

	Talang Development Company Limited
	251.0
	251.0
	50
	50
	-
	                -

	Thai Wah Plaza Limited
	2,250.0
	2,250.0
	100
	100
	-
	                -

	Thai Wah Tower Company Limited
	455.0
	455.0
	100
	100
	-
	                -

	Thai Wah Tower (2) Company Limited
	21.0
	21.0
	100
	100
	-
	                -

	Twin Waters Development Company Limited
	214.4
	214.4
	100
	100
	-
	     -

	Subsidiaries held through Laguna Grande Limited
	
	
	
	
	

	Bangtao (1) Limited
	20.9
	20.9
	100
	100
	-
	                -

	Bangtao (2) Limited
	19.1
	19.1
	100
	100
	-
	                -

	Bangtao (3) Limited
	7.8
	7.8
	100
	100
	-
	                -

	Bangtao (4) Limited
	14.6
	14.6
	100
	100
	-
	                -

	Bangtao Development Limited
	80.0
	80.0
	100
	100
	-
	                -

	Bangtao Grande Limited
	1,546.0
	1,546.0
	100
	100
	-
	                -

	Laguna Central Limited
	1.0
	1.0
	85
	85
	-
	                -

	Subsidiary held through Banyan Tree Gallery (Singapore) Pte Limited
	
	
	
	

	Lijiang Banyan Tree Gallery Trading
	 USD 75
	 USD 75
	
	
	
	

	  Company  Limited
	Thousands
	Thousands
	51
	51
	-
	                -

	Subsidiary held through Laguna Beach Club Limited
	
	
	
	

	Laguna (1) Limited
	-
	15.0
	-
	60
	-
	                -

	Subsidiary held through Laguna Holiday Club Limited
	
	
	
	

	Cheer Golden Limited
	-
	-
	100
	100
	-
	-

	Total investments in subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	3,407.2
	3,492.2



(1)
Laguna Banyan Tree Limited is held 49% by the Company and 51% through TWR - Holdings Limited


(2)
Laguna Beach Club Limited is held 10% by the Company and 50% through TWR - Holdings Limited until 10 May 2011

(3)
Laguna Services Company Limited is held by the Company and 3 subsidiaries

The Company and its subsidiary have a 60% shareholding in Laguna Beach Club Limited. However, the Company and its subsidiary have recognised its share of the profit of this subsidiary at 50% in accordance with the income sharing percentage in the Articles of Association.
The Company has a 49% shareholding in Laguna Excursions Limited. However, the Company has recognised its share of the profits of this subsidiary at 100% after deducting the cumulative preferential annual dividend of 15% of the par value of the preference shares, in accordance with the income sharing percentage in the Articles of Association.
On 22 February 2011, the Board of Directors of the Company and TWR-Holding Company Limited, a subsidiary, approved the sale of Laguna Beach Club Limited (“LBC”), in which the Company and its subsidiary had a 60% shareholding, comprising 1,200,000 shares, to Laguna Phuket Club Limited for a total consideration of Baht 723.57 million. RHI Group Pte. Ltd., the Company’s joint venture partner in LBC was also to sell all of its shares together with those of the Company and the subsidiary. As a result, all shares in LBC were to be sold to the buyer under the same Share Purchase Agreement (“Agreement”). Certain conditions precedent of the sale of shares specified in the Agreement were completed on 10 May 2011. Hence LBC and Laguna (1) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of LBC, were no longer subsidiaries of the Company. The Company and its subsidiary recorded gains on the disposal amounting to Baht 471.48 million in the consolidated financial statements and Baht 34.49 million in the separate financial statements. The net asset values of LBC and Laguna (1) Limited as at 10 May 2011 are discussed in Note 1.3.
10.
Investments in associates
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	Company’ name
	Nature of business
	Country of incorporation
	Shareholding percentage
	Cost
	Carrying amounts based on equity method

	
	
	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	
	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	
	
	
	(%)
	(%)
	
	
	
	

	Ownrep Project Services Pte. Ltd.
	Ceased operation
	Singapore
	-
	50
	-
	18,109
	-
	-

	Lijiang Banyan Tree Hotel Co. Ltd.
	Hotel operations and property development
	The People’s Republic of China
	49
	49
	348,414
	348,414
	481,135
	335,560

	Tropical Resorts Ltd.
	Holding company
	Hong Kong
	26
	26
	17,673
	17,673
	
	

	Less: Allowance for impairment of investment
	
	
	
	(17,673)
	(17,673)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Total investment in associates - net
	
	
	348,414
	366,523
	481,135
	335,560


(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	Company’s name
	Share of profit (loss) from investment in associate

	
	For three-month period ended 30 June
	For six-month period ended 30 June

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Lijiang Banyan Tree Hotel Co. Ltd.
	(9,147)
	(14,645)
	126,454
	(18,672)



The Company recognised its share of losses from the investments in Ownrep Project Services Pte. Ltd. and Tropical Resorts Ltd. until the value of the investments approached zero. Subsequent losses incurred by those associates have not been recognised in the Company’s accounts since the Company has no obligations, whether legal or constructive, to make any payments on behalf of the associates.
11.
Other long-term investments

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Investment in available-for-sale security
	
	
	
	

	Universal Starch Public Company Limited
	50,830
	50,830
	30,316
	23,850

	Less: Allowance for impairment of investment
	(50,830)
	(50,830)
	(30,316)
	(23,850)

	Total investment in available-for-sale security - net
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Investments in other companies
	
	
	
	

	Bibace Investments Ltd
	188,425
	188,425
	-
	-

	Banyan Tree Indochina Hospitality Fund, L.P.
	91,555
	91,555
	-
	-

	Total investments in other companies
	279,980
	279,980
	-
	-

	Total other long-term investments - net
	279,980
	279,980
	-
	-



On 28 April 2011, the Company additional purchased 4,825,406 ordinary shares of Universal Starch Public Company Limited from TWR-Holdings Company Limited, a subsidiary at the net book value of Baht 6.47 million. The shareholding proportion of the Company in Universal Starch Public Company Limited account is 16.27% of its issued and paid-up ordinary shares. However, such transaction does not affect the shareholding proportion in the consolidated financial statements.
12.
Property, plant and equipment 




(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
	Separate 

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	At cost / revaluation value
	
	

	Balance as at 31 December 2010
	20,156,671
	396,626

	Additions
	87,341
	1,810

	Transfer to investment properties
	(783,669)
	(41,567)

	Disposal of subsidiaries
	(2,009,630)
	-

	Disposals and write off
	(10,181)
	(973)

	Adjustments
	(180)
	(560)

	Balance as at 30 June 2011
	17,440,352
	355,336






(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
	Separate 

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	Accumulated depreciation
	
	

	Balance as at 31 December 2010
	(5,445,259)
	(104,244)

	Depreciation charged for the period
	(170,613)
	(4,570)

	Depreciation on revaluation surplus
	(3,982)
	-

	Transfer to investment properties
	164,761
	20,855

	Disposal of subsidiaries
	671,931
	-

	Depreciation on disposals and write off
	7,059
	415

	Depreciation on adjustments
	482
	-

	Balance as at 30 June 2011
	(4,775,621)
	(87,544)

	Allowance for impairment loss
	
	

	Balance as at 31 December 2010
	(18,172)
	(7,923)

	Decrease from transferring to investment properties
	567
	567

	Balance as at 30 June 2011
	(17,605)
	(7,356)

	Net book value 
	
	

	Balance as at 31 December 2010
	14,693,240
	284,459

	Balance as at 30 June 2011
	12,647,126
	260,436


The Company and its subsidiaries arranged for an independent professional valuer to re-appraise the value of certain assets in the report dated 30 November 2010 on an asset-by-asset basis. The basis of the revaluation was as follows:

-
Land was revalued using the Fair Market Approach.

-
Hotel buildings and other buildings were revalued using the Depreciated Replacement Cost Approach

-
Rental buildings were revalued using the Residual Value Approach


The Company and its subsidiaries have mortgaged land and hotel buildings at fair value of Baht 8,457.64 million (31 December 2010: Baht 8,307.26 million) as collateral against credit facilities received from financial institutions (Separate financial statements: Nil, 31 December 2010: Nil).
13.   Short-term loans from financial institution

Short-term loans from financial institutions represent promissory notes with maturity dates within 3 months, subject to interest rate of 4.15% to 4.27% per annum                   (31 December 2010: Nil). 

These short-term loans from financial institutions are secured by the mortgage of plots of land and hotel buildings of its subsidiaries, as described in Note 12 to the interim financial statements and by the guarantee provided by subsidiaries.
14.
Other current liabilities

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
	Separate 

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Accrued expenses
	277,680
	329,369
	58,666
	74,693

	Advance receipts from customers
	290,008
	418,455
	131,623
	74,803

	Other accounts payable
	94,671
	60,439
	51,028
	2,962

	Construction payable
	24,889
	41,882
	7,266
	11,492

	Service charge payable to hotel staff
	10,981
	35,004
	-
	-

	Value added tax payable
	40,700
	55,524
	2,626
	1,784

	Accrued rental to villa owners
	48,214
	23,837
	-
	-

	Unearned income
	64,493
	61,919
	1,815
	-

	Total
	851,636
	1,026,429
	253,024
	165,734


15.
Long - term loans from financial institutions

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	30 June
	31 December
	30 June
	31 December

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	Secured
	2,095,650
	2,535,444
	350,000
	385,000

	Long-term loans are repayable as follows:
	
	
	
	

	   Within one year
	345,608
	570,210
	70,000
	70,000

	   Between two and five years
	1,051,492
	1,032,734
	280,000
	280,000

	   Over five years
	698,550
	932,500
	-
	35,000

	
	1,750,042
	1,965,234
	280,000
	315,000

	Total
	2,095,650
	2,535,444
	350,000
	385,000


Movements in the long-term loans account during the six-month period ended 30 June 2011 are summarised below:

 (Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 
	Separate 

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	Balance as at 31 December 2010
	2,535,444
	385,000

	Add : Additional borrowings
	20
	-

	Less: Repayments
	(439,814)
	(35,000)

	Balance as at 30 June 2011
	2,095,650
	350,000


Long-term loans consist of the following:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	30 June     2011
	31 December 2010
	30 June     2011
	31 December 2010

	The Company
	
	
	
	

	(1)
Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 420 million 
	
	
	
	

	
repayable quarterly from July 2010 to April 2016, 
	
	
	
	

	
at an interest rate as follows:
	
	
	
	

	
2010 onwards
: MLR less 1%, 1.5% and 1.75% per annum 
	350,000
	385,000
	350,000
	385,000


	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	

	(2)
Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 600 million(a) 
	
	
	
	

	
repayable quarterly from September 2006 to March 2011,
	
	
	
	

	
at an interest rate of MLR less 2% per annum or 3 month
	
	
	
	

	
fixed deposit rate plus 2% per annum, whichever is higher
	-
	65,268
	-
	-

	(3)
Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 1,004 million,
	
	
	
	

	
repayable quarterly from December 2005 to December 2013,
	
	
	
	

	         at an interest rate as follows:
	
	
	
	

	
2010 onwards
: MLR less 0.5% per annum
	372,320
	446,166
	-
	-


	(4)
Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 300 million
	
	
	
	

	
repayable quarterly from March 2007 to June 2011,
	
	
	
	

	
at an interest rate of MLR less 1% per annum
	-
	80,000
	-
	-

	(5)
Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 220 million
	
	
	
	

	
repayable quarterly from June 2007 to June 2011, at an 
	
	
	
	

	
interest rate as follows:
	
	
	
	

	
2010 onwards
: MLR less 1% per annum or 3 month
	
	
	
	

	fixed deposit rate plus 2.5% per annum,
	
	
	
	

	whichever is higher
	-
	118,750
	-
	-


(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial statements

	
	30 June     2011
	31 December 2010
	30 June     2011
	31 December 2010

	(6)    Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 100 million,
	
	
	
	

	
repayable quarterly from July 2008 to April 2014, at an
	
	
	
	

	
interest rate as follows:
	
	
	
	

	
2010 onwards
:
MLR less 0.5% per annum
	80,000
	85,000
	-
	-

	(7)    Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 1,000 million(a) 
	
	
	
	

	
repayable quarterly from October 2009 to April 2019, at an
	
	
	
	

	
interest rate as follows:
	
	
	
	

	
2010 onwards
:
MLR per annum and MLR less 0.5%, 1%
	
	
	
	

	


per annum
	888,300
	926,250
	-
	-

	(8)    Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 145 million
	
	
	
	

	         repayable quarterly from August 2010 to May 2016,
	
	
	
	

	         at an interest rate as follows:
	
	
	
	

	
2010 onwards
:
MLR per annum and MLR less 0.5%, 1%
	
	
	
	

	


and 1.5% per annum
	142,000
	143,500
	-
	-

	(9)    Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 20 million
	
	
	
	

	         repayable quarterly from April 2009 to January 2011,
	
	
	
	

	         at an interest rate of  MLR less 1.25% per annum
	-
	2,500
	-
	-


	(10)  Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 219 million
	
	
	
	

	         repayable quarterly from August 2009 to August 2012, at an
	
	
	
	

	         interest rate as follows:
	
	
	
	

	
2010 onwards
: MLR less 0.5%, 1% and 1.5% per annum
	139,000
	159,000
	-
	-

	(11)  Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 700 million(a)   
	
	
	
	

	        repayable quarterly from April 2012 to July 2016, at an 
	
	
	
	

	        interest rate as  follows:
	
	
	
	

	        2010 onwards : MLR less 1% and 1.25% per annum
	124,010
	124,010
	-
	-

	(12)  Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 900 million(a)     
	
	
	
	

	         repayable quarterly from June 2014 to March 2024, at an
	
	
	
	

	         interest rate as  follows:
	
	
	
	

	         2011 onwards : MLR less 1% and 1.25% per annum
	10
	-
	-
	-

	(13)  Baht loan from a bank, with a facility of Baht 520 million  
	
	
	
	

	         repayable quarterly from June 2014 to March 2018, at an
	
	
	
	

	         interest rate as  follows:
	
	
	
	

	         2011 onwards : MLR less 1% and 1.5% per annum
	10
	-
	-
	-

	Total long-term loans from institutions 
	2,095,650
	2,535,444
	350,000
	385,000



MLR: Minimum Lending Rate
(a) Also subject to mandatory prepayment in inverse order of maturity upon the ownership transfer of property sales units.

The loans are secured by mortgage of plots of land and all hotel buildings of the Company and its subsidiaries, as described in Note 12 to the interim financial statements. The loan in (4) above is guaranteed by the Company and its subsidiaries. 

The loan agreements contain covenants as specified in the agreements that, among other things, require the Company and its subsidiaries to maintain certain debt to equity and debt service coverage ratios according to the agreements.  

As at 30 June 2011, the long-term credit facilities of the Company and its subsidiaries which have not yet been drawn down amounted to Baht 1,852 million (31 December 2010: Baht 1,332 million).

16.
Earnings per share  
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the Company (excluding other comprehensive income) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic earnings per share and basic earnings per share for continuing operations computation:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	For the three-month period ended 30 June

	
	Consolidated 

Financial statements
	Separate 

financial statements

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	
	
	(Restated)
	
	(Restated)

	Profit (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company for the period  
	198,008
	(190,077)
	(8,803)
	5,525

	Loss after tax for the period from discontinued operation
	-
	3,778
	-
	3,778

	Profit (loss) from continuing operations attributable to equity holders of the Company
	198,008
	(186,299)
	(8,803)
	9,303

	Weighted average number of  ordinary shares (shares)
	166,682,701
	166,682,701
	166,682,701
	166,682,701

	Earnings (loss) per share (Baht/share)
	1.19
	(1.14)
	(0.05)
	0.03

	Earnings (loss) per share for continuing operations (Baht/share)
	1.19
	(1.12)
	(0.05)
	0.06


(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	For the six-month period ended 30 June

	
	Consolidated 

Financial statements
	Separate 

financial statements

	
	2011
	2010
	2011
	2010

	
	
	(Restated)
	
	(Restated)

	Profit (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company for the period  
	502,390
	194,098
	(34,810)
	12,462

	Profit after tax for the period from discontinued operation
	-
	(100,939)
	-
	(100,939)

	Profit (loss) from continuing operations attributable to equity holders of the Company
	502,390
	93,159
	(34,810)
	(88,477)

	Weighted average number of  ordinary shares (shares)
	166,682,701
	166,682,701
	166,682,701
	166,682,701

	Earnings (loss) per share (Baht/share)
	3.01
	1.16
	(0.21)
	0.07

	Earnings (loss) per share for continuing operations (Baht/share)
	3.01
	0.56
	(0.21)
	(0.53)


17.
Dividend


Dividends declared in six-month periods ended 30 June 2011 and 2010 consist of:

	
	Approved by
	Total dividends
	Dividend per share

	
	
	(Million Baht)
	(Baht)

	Dividends on 2009 retained earnings
	Annual General Meeting of the shareholders on 27 April 2010
	366.70
	2.20

	Dividends on 2010 retained earnings
	Annual General Meeting of the shareholders on 27 April 2011
	1,666.83
	10.00


18.
Discontinued operation  
The Company’s Extraordinary General Meeting No. 1/2010 held on 7 October 2010 passed resolutions approving the divestment of Dusit Thani Laguna Phuket, comprising land, buildings, plant & machinery, furniture, fixtures & equipment and inventory owned by the Company, Phuket Resort Development Limited and Laguna Grande Limited to Dusit Thani Public Company Limited (“Buyer”), for a total consideration of Baht 2,620.00 million inclusive of value added tax. The related Asset Purchase Agreement was executed on 10 August 2010. The Company transferred the operations of Dusit Thani Laguna Phuket on 11 October 2010 o0.0048 – 30.8745กันเกี่ยวข้องกันs





























































































and the possessory rights of the land on 24 December 2010 to the Buyer. The net book value carried at cost of the land, buildings, plant & machinery, furniture, fixtures & equipments amounted to approximately Baht 334.47 million, and inventory amounted to approximately Baht 9.42 million. The Company and its subsidiaries recorded gain on this disposal amounting to Baht 2,267.69 million. The results of Dusit Thani Laguna Phuket for the three-month and six-month periods ended 30 June 2010 are presented below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidation/Separate   financial statements

	
	For the three-month period ended 30 June

	
	2011
	2010

	Revenue
	-
	70,099

	Expenses:
	
	

	
Cost of hotel operation
	-
	26,816

	
Selling expenses
	-
	6,293

	
Administrative expenses
	-
	35,710

	
Depreciation
	-
	12,623

	Total expenses
	-
	81,442

	Loss before tax from discontinued operation
	
	(11,343)

	Tax expense
	-
	7,565

	Loss for the period from discontinued operation
	-
	(3,778)


(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidation/Separate  financial statements

	
	For the six-month period     ended 30 June

	
	2011
	2010

	Revenue
	-
	302,228

	Expenses:
	
	

	
Cost of hotel operation
	-
	69,418

	
Selling expenses
	-
	19,346

	
Administrative expenses
	-
	87,180

	
Depreciation
	-
	25,345

	Total expenses
	-
	201,289

	Profit before tax from discontinued operation
	-
	100,939

	Tax expense
	-
	-

	Profit for the period from discontinued operation
	-
	100,939


The net cash flows of Dusit Thani Laguna Phuket are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidation/Separate   financial statements

	
	For the six-month period    ended 30 June

	
	2011
	2010

	Operating
	-
	113,821

	Investing
	-
	(429)

	Net cash in flow
	-
	113,392

	Basic earnings per share:
	
	

	Net income for the period from discontinued operation (Baht)
	-
	0.61


The rationale for such divestment is that the Company is presently too reliant on the operations in Phuket which account for the majority of the Company’s income and is therefore vulnerable to any adverse events which impact the Thai tourism industry. By divesting Dusit Thani Laguna Phuket, the Company will reduce its exposure in Phuket and therefore reduce its country risks. The Company plans to use the net proceeds from the divestment to invest in a hotel or hotel related project overseas, and/or repay bank loans, and/or pay dividends to its shareholders.  The amount of the proceeds to be allocated to each of the uses is to be determined by the Board of Directors.
19.
Commitments  

Capital commitment

As at 30 June 2011, the Company and its subsidiaries have capital commitments as follows:


a) 
The Company and its subsidiaries have commitments in respect of constructing new and renovating existing hotel properties amounting to totaling Baht 10.01 million (31 December 2010: Baht 9.40 million).


b) 
The Company and its subsidiaries have commitments that relate to projects to develop properties for sale amounting to approximately Baht 83.13 million           (31 December 2010: Baht 205.86 million).


c)
A subsidiary entered into an Agreement to Purchase and Sale of Land, having a total land area of 237 rai 1 ngarn 39.6 square wah, with a third party. The subsidiary will periodically acquire the land in accordance with terms and conditions as set forth in the aforesaid Agreement. The subsidiary initially acquired the land, having a total area of 53 rai 2 ngarn 3.4 square wah. The subsidiary holds the right to acquire the remaining land, having a total area of 183 rai 3 ngarn 36.2 square wah, by 1 July 2018. The subsidiary paid the deposit of Baht 64.71 million and the purchase price of the remaining land shall be increased at rate of 5% on every anniversary date following the date that the Agreement to Purchase and Sale of Land was executed.


Operating agreements

As at 30 June 2011, the Company and its subsidiaries have operating agreements as follows:

(a) The subsidiaries have entered into operating agreements with certain companies whereby these companies are to operate the subsidiaries’ hotels and golf business. In consideration for such services, subsidiaries are committed to pay remuneration at the rates, terms and basis specified in the agreements. These agreements are summarised as follows:
	Company
	Business unit
	Operator
	Contract period
	Fees

	Bangtao Grande Limited
	Sheraton Grande Laguna
	Sheraton Overseas 
	11.1.1989  - 30.6.2011
	- Basic management fee : 2% of total revenue

	
	   Phuket
	   Management Corporation
	
	- Incentive fee : 7.5% of gross operating profit

	
	Angsana Laguna Phuket
	Banyan Tree Hotels &
	1.7.2011 - 30.11.2031
	- Royalty fee:  3% of total revenue

	
	
	   Resorts Pte. Limited
	
	

	
	
	Banyan Tree Resorts & Spas
	1.7.2011 - 30.11.2031
	- Management fee: 10% of gross operating profit

	
	
	   (Thailand) Company Limited
	
	

	Laguna Grande Limited
	Laguna Phuket Golf Club
	Banyan Tree Resorts & Spas
	1.1.2009 - 31.12.2014
	- Basic technical fee : 3% of total revenue

	
	
	   (Thailand) Company Limited
	(a)
	- Incentive fee : 10% of gross operating profit

	Laguna Banyan Tree Limited
	Banyan Tree Phuket 
	Banyan Tree Hotels and
	1.1.2009 - 31.12.2015
	- Royalty fee : 2% of total revenue

	
	
	   Resorts Pte. Limited
	(b)
	

	
	
	Banyan Tree Resorts & Spas
	1.1.2009 - 31.12.2015
	- Technical fee : 7.5% of gross operating profit

	
	
	   (Thailand) Company Limited
	(b)
	

	Thai Wah Plaza Limited
	Banyan Tree Bangkok
	Banyan Tree Hotels &
	1.1.2009 - 31.12.2021
	- Royalty fee:  3% of total revenue

	
	
	   Resorts Pte. Limited
	(c)
	

	
	
	Banyan Tree Resorts & Spas
	1.1.2009 - 31.12.2021
	- Management fee: 10% of gross operating profit

	
	
	   (Thailand) Company Limited
	(c) 
	

	Laguna Village Limited
	Outrigger Laguna 

Phuket Resort and Villas
	Outrigger Hotels (Thailand) 

   Limited
	29.5.2009 - 31.12.2019

(d)
	- Basic management fee: 2% of total revenue for    the first fiscal year, 2.5% of total revenue for the second fiscal year and 3% of total revenue    for the remain fiscal years

	
	
	
	
	- Incentive fee : 7% of gross operating profit


(a)
Operator has option to extend for 1 additional period of 10 years
(b)
Operator has option to extend for 1 additional period of 10 years.
(c)
Operator has option to extend for 1 additional period of 20 years.
(d)
Operator has option to extend for 2 additional periods of 10 years.
(b) The Company and its subsidiaries have commitments in respect of cash rewards options for villa rental scheme agreements. The terms of the scheme agreements are generally 6 years.

As at 30 June 2011, future minimum payments required under these scheme agreements were as follows.

(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	Payable within:
	
	

	
Less than 1 year
	178.24
	45.82

	
Between 2 - 5 years
	406.82
	100.24

	
Over 5 years
	8.57
	-



During the six-month period ended 30 June 2011, the Company and its subsidiaries recognised rental expenses of Baht 91.12 million (Separate financial statements: Baht 22.91 million).

Investment commitment


A subsidiary entered into the Limited Partnership Agreement in respect of the       Banyan Tree Indochina Hospitality Fund, L.P. (“the Fund”), an exempted limited partnership formed under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The fund is managed by Banyan Tree Indochina (GP) Company Limited and focuses mainly on hotel and resort investments in Vietnam, Cambodia and Laos. Based on the fund size of USD 283 million at closing date on 30 June 2009, the capital commitment of USD 16 million would be approximately 5.65% of the fund. The injection of funds is expected to be over a period of 4 years from 2009. As at 30 June 2011, the subsidiary has made capital contributions of USD 2.8 million to the Fund.

20.
Guarantees
a)   
As at 30 June 2011, there are bank guarantees amounting to Baht 43.72 million  (Separate financial statements: Baht 1.56 million) issued to various parties on behalf of the Company and its subsidiaries, mainly provided for the usage of electricity, other utilities and telecommunication channels (31 December 2010: Baht 48.60 million, Separate financial statements: Baht 4.01 million).
b)  
As at 30 June 2011, the Company has the provision of a guarantee for a loan obtained by Lijiang Banyan Tree Hotel Co., Ltd. (LBTH) by issuing the letter of indemnity to its parent company, Banyan Tree Holdings Limited. The provision of the guarantee is to secure the loan of LBTH in proportion to the equity interest of 49.04 % of the Company in LBTH (through Laguna Banyan Tree Limited).

21.
Segment information

The Company and its subsidiaries’ business operations involve three principal segments: (1) hotel operations (2) office rental and (3) property development business. These operations are mainly carried on in Thailand. Below is the consolidated financial information of the Company and its subsidiaries by segment. 

 (Unit: Million Baht)

	
	For the three-month period ended 30 June 2011

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Elimination of
	

	
	Hotel
	Gallery
	
	Total Hotel
	Office
	Property
	inter-segment
	

	
	Business
	Operations
	Others
	Operations
	Rental
	Development
	revenues
	Consolidation

	Revenue from external
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   customers
	478
	82
	48
	608
	15
	89
	-
	712

	Intersegment revenues
	46
	16
	-
	62
	5
	2
	(69)
	-

	Total revenues
	524
	98
	48
	670
	20
	91
	(69)
	712


(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	For the three-month period ended 30 June 2011

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Elimination of
	

	
	Hotel
	Gallery
	
	Total Hotel
	Office
	Property
	inter-segment
	

	
	Business
	Operations
	Others
	Operations
	Rental
	Development
	revenues
	Consolidation

	Segment profit 
	250
	38
	23
	311
	6
	61
	-
	378

	Gain on sale of investment
	471
	-
	-
	471
	-
	-
	-
	471

	Interest income, foreign 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    exchange gain and 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	20

	Unallocated expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Selling expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(72)

	Administrative expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(417)

	Depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(81)

	Share of loss from investments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   in associates
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(9)

	Finance cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(25)

	Corporate income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(64)

	Profit for the period
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	201


(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	For the three-month period ended 30 June 2010

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Elimination of
	

	
	Hotel
	Gallery
	
	Total Hotel
	Office
	Property
	inter-segment
	

	
	Business
	Operations
	Others
	Operations
	Rental
	Development
	revenues
	Consolidation

	Revenue from external
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   customers
	424
	44
	45
	513
	12
	211
	-
	736

	Intersegment revenues
	55
	8
	-
	63
	6
	1
	(70)
	-

	Total revenues
	479
	52
	45
	576
	18
	212
	(70)
	736

	Segment profit 
	201
	21
	23
	245
	4
	133
	-
	382

	Interest and other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	17

	Unallocated expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Selling expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(92)

	Administrative expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(348)

	Loss on termination of property sales
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(14)

	Depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(98)

	Share of loss from investments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   in associates
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(15)

	Finance cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(36)

	Corporate income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	25

	Loss after tax for the period 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    from discontinued operation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(4)

	Loss for the period
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(183)


(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	For the six-month period ended 30 June 2011

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Elimination of
	

	
	Hotel
	Gallery
	
	Total Hotel
	Office
	Property
	inter-segment
	

	
	Business
	Operations
	Others
	Operations
	Rental
	Development
	revenues
	Consolidation

	Revenue from external
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   customers
	1,455
	140
	120
	1,715
	26
	245
	-
	1,986

	Intersegment revenues
	94
	27
	-
	121
	10
	4
	(135)
	-

	Total revenues
	1,549
	167
	120
	1,836
	36
	249
	(135)
	1,986


(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	For the six-month period ended 30 June 2011

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Elimination of
	

	
	Hotel
	Gallery
	
	Total Hotel
	Office
	Property
	inter-segment
	

	
	Business
	Operations
	Others
	Operations
	Rental
	Development
	revenues
	Consolidation

	Segment profit 
	944
	65
	63
	1,072
	12
	167
	-
	1,251

	Gain on sale of investment
	471
	-
	-
	471
	-
	-
	-
	471

	Interest income, foreign 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    exchange gain and 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	37

	Unallocated expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Selling expenses
	
	
	
	 
	
	
	
	(164)

	Administrative expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(852)

	Depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(171)

	Share of profit from investments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   in associates
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	126

	Finance cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(44)

	Corporate income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(122)

	Profit for the period
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	535


(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	For the six-month period ended 30 June 2010

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Elimination of
	

	
	Hotel
	Gallery
	
	Total Hotel
	Office
	Property
	inter-segment
	

	
	Business
	Operations
	Others
	Operations
	Rental
	Development
	revenues
	Consolidation

	Revenue from external
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   customers
	1,384
	90
	115
	1,589
	23
	742
	-
	2,354

	Intersegment revenues
	117
	18
	-
	135
	10
	1
	(146)
	-

	Total revenues
	1,501
	108
	115
	1,724
	33
	743
	(146)
	2,354

	Segment profit 
	869
	41
	60
	970
	8
	463
	-
	1,441

	Interest income, insurance  
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   claim, foreign exchange
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   gain and other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	105

	Unallocated expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Selling expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(198)

	Administrative expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(780)

	Loss on termination of property sales
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(91)

	Depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(197)

	Share of loss from investments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   in associates
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(19)

	Finance cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(71)

	Corporate income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(62)

	Profit after tax for the period 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    from discontinued operation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	101

	Profit for the period
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	229



Transfer prices between businesses segments are set out as described in Note 6 to the interim financial statements.

(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	As at 30 June 2011

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Elimination of
	

	
	Hotel
	Gallery
	
	Total Hotel
	Office
	Property
	inter-segment
	

	
	Business
	Operations
	Others
	Operations
	Rental
	Development
	revenues
	Total

	Property, plant and
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   equipment - net
	11,344
	17
	1,265
	12,626
	1
	20
	-
	12,647

	Total assets
	13,215
	314
	1,371
	14,900
	626
	3,314
	-
	18,840


(Unit: Million Baht)

	
	As at 31 December 2010

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Elimination of
	

	
	Hotel
	Gallery
	
	Total Hotel
	Office
	Property
	inter-segment
	

	
	Business
	Operations
	Others
	Operations
	Rental
	Development
	revenues
	Total

	Property, plant and
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   equipment - net
	12,763
	17
	1,291
	14,071
	599
	23
	-
	14,693

	Total assets
	16,271
	284
	1,380
	17,935
	608
	3,311
	-
	21,854


22.
Financial instruments

The Company’s financial instruments, as defined under Thai Accounting Standard No. 107 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentations”, principally comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and payable, loans, investments, short-term and long-term loans. The financial risks associated with these financial instruments and how they are managed in described below.
         Credit risk


The Company and its subsidiaries are exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade accounts receivable from the hotel, space rental, and property development businesses.  However, due to the large number and diversity of the entities comprising the Company and its subsidiaries’ customer base, the Company and its subsidiaries do not anticipate material losses from debt collection. 

          Interest rate risk 


The Company and its subsidiaries’ exposure to interest rate risk relate primarily to their deposits with financial institutions, long-term trade accounts receivable and bank overdrafts and loans. However, since most of the Company and its subsidiaries’ financial assets and liabilities have floating interest rates or fixed interest rates which are close to the market interest rates, the interest rate risk is expected to be minimal. The Company and its subsidiaries do not use derivative financial instruments to hedge such risk (the detail of long-term loans are set out in Note 15 to the interim financial statements).
	

	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Fixed interest rates
	
	

	
	Within
	
	Over
	Floating
	Non interest
	
	

	
	1 year
	1-5 years
	5 years
	interest rate
	Bearing
	Total
	Interest rate

	
	(Million Baht)
	(% p.a.)

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash equivalents  (excluding cash)
	11
	-
	-
	356
	-
	367
	0.40%

	Trade accounts receivable
	148
	-
	                   -
	30
	166
	344
	4.78% - 12%

	Long-term trade accounts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    receivable
	-
	92
	-
	110
	-
	202
	4.78% - 12%

	Long-term loans to employees
	-
	-
	-
	11
	-
	11
	3.55%

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short - term loans from  
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    financial institutions 
	480
	-
	-
	-
	-
	480
	4.15% - 4.27%

	Trade accounts payable
	-
	-
	-
	-
	174
	174
	

	Long - term loans from 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   financial institutions
	-
	-
	-
	2,096
	-
	2,096
	 4.27% - 6.38%

	
	Separate financial statements 

	
	Fixed interest rates
	
	

	
	Within
	
	Over
	Floating
	Non interest
	
	

	
	1 year
	1-5 years
	5 years
	interest rate
	Bearing
	Total
	Interest rate

	
	(Million Baht)
	(% p.a.)

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash equivalents  (excluding cash)
	-
	-
	-
	24
	-
	24
	1.65%

	Trade accounts receivable
	7
	-
	-
	9
	11
	27
	4.78% - 12%

	Long-term trade accounts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    receivable
	-
	12
	-
	29
	-
	41
	4.78% - 12%

	Long-term loans to subsidiaries
	-
	-
	-
	1,905
	-
	1,905
	5.91%

	Long-term loans to employees
	-
	-
	-
	6
	-
	6
	3.55%

	Financial liabilities 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short - term loans from  
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    financial institutions 
	260
	-
	-
	-
	-
	260
	4.15% - 4.27%

	Trade accounts payable
	-
	-
	-
	-
	6
	6
	4.76%

	Long-term loans from subsidiaries
	-
	-
	-
	900
	-
	900
	           4.27%

	Long - term loans from 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   financial institutions
	-
	-
	-
	350
	-
	350
	5.38%


         Foreign currency risk

The Company and its subsidiaries’ exposure to foreign currency risk relates primarily to their receivables, payables and loans which are denominated in foreign currencies.  In addition to those transactional exposures, the Company is also exposed to the effect of foreign exchange movements on its investment in foreign subsidiaries and associates, which currently are not hedged by any derivative financial instrument.

The Company and a subsidiary have entered into forward exchange contracts to hedge their hotel revenues which are denominated in foreign currencies. Forward exchange contracts outstanding as at 30 June 2011 are summarized below.
	
	 
	Forward rate for
	

	Foreign currency
	Amount bought
	amount bought
	Maturity

	
	(Million)
	(Baht per US dollar)
	

	Subsidiary
	
	
	

	US dollar
	2.17
	34.01
	USD 1.1 million due quarterly from          30 September 2011 to 31 December 2011



Foreign currency assets/liabilities
As at 30 June 2011, the outstanding balances of the Company and its subsidiaries’ financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are as follows:


(Unit: Thousand)

	
	Consolidated 
	Separate 

	
	financial statements
	financial statements

	Foreign currency
	Assets 
	Liabilities
	Assets 
	Liabilities

	US dollar
	987
	301
	488
	45

	Singapore dollar
	408
	322
	-
	280

	Euro
	26
	-
	-
	-

	British Pound
	14
	-
	-
	-


23.
Litigation
a)
A case was brought to the Central Bankruptcy Court on 5 August 2009 as a result of the judgment of President of the Supreme Court of the previous case which the plaintiff brought to the Southern Bangkok Civil Court. Upon the plaint, the plaintiff asked the Court to revoke the resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of the defendant No.1/2007 held on 4 July 2007 (the EGM) and to cancel the registration of the aforementioned resolution on the grounds that the defendant and the chairman of the EGM did not allow the plaintiff to attend the EGM. The plaintiff is not a shareholder of the Company.

This case is currently pending at the Central Bankruptcy Court.

b)
A case was brought to the Southern Bangkok Civil Court on 3 July 2008 in which the Company is one of the defendants. Upon the plaint, the 6 plaintiffs in total claimed that they are the creditors of one of the Company’s shareholders. They asserted that in arranging the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders No. 1/2007 and approving the capital increase by the shareholders where some shareholders did not subscribe for newly issued shares were actions jointly undertaken by the shareholders and the Company to commit a tort against the plaintiffs. Thus, they demanded the Company to pay the damages of Baht 539.05 million to them with interest of 7.5% per annum and the costs of the legal proceedings.

The Company considers that the Company did not commit a tort against the plaintiffs as accused, therefore no provision has been made in the accounts.


This case is currently pending at the Court of First instance.

c)
A case was brought to the Phuket Provincial Court on 8 October 2009, in which 4 of LRH’s affiliated companies and 10 individual directors are the defendants. The plaintiffs referred in the plaint that they purchased units in Allamanda 1 Condominium during 1991 to 1995. The plaintiffs claim the Sale and Purchase Agreement called for common area of approximately 20 rai. On registration of Allamanda 1 Condominium, Allamanda 1 Condominium was registered with only 9 rai 2 ngan 9 square wah. As result, the plaintiffs claim the defendants have breached the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Therefore, the plaintiffs requested the defendants to completely deliver the common area as specified by the Agreement by transfer of the land totaling 10 rais 3 ngans 97.1 square wah to Allamanda 1 Juristic Person, as the 10th plaintiff, or to be jointly liable for the compensation of Baht 131.91 million in case the transfer of land cannot be made. The plaintiffs also requested for additional compensation in the amount of Baht 55.69 million for unlawful use of the land which is supposed to be common property of Allamanda 1 Condominium. The total amount of claim is Baht 187.60 million with interest at the rate of 7.5 % per annum from the date the claim was lodged until the defendants have made full payment. The plaintiffs also claimed that the former and current directors of those subsidiaries as the 5th to 14th defendants were the representatives of the subsidiaries being the 1st to 4th defendants, and therefore must also be jointly liable with those subsidiaries.

LRH’s affiliated companies and individual directors have lodged their statement of defense and believe that the plaintiff’s claims are invalid and therefore no provision has been made in the accounts.


This case is currently pending at the Phuket Provincial Court of First Instance.

Furthermore, the plaintiffs submitted the interim injunction to the Court requesting the defendants not to register or amend the status of nine plots of land in dispute with Land Department during the trial. This issue is pending in the Court proceeding.
24.    Reclassification  

Certain amounts in the income statements for the three-month and six-month periods ended 30 June 2010 have been reclassified to conform to the current periods’ classification but with no effect to previously reported net income or shareholders’ equity. The reclassifications are as follows:




(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial     statements

	
	For the three-month period ended 30 June 2010

	

	As
	As previously 
	As
	As previously 

	
	reclassified
	reported
	reclassified
	reported

	Revenue
	
	
	
	

	Revenue from hotel operations
	512,687
	582,786
	10,439
	80,538

	Expenses
	
	
	
	

	Cost of hotel operations
	267,851
	294,667
	2,873
	29,689

	Selling expenses
	       92,435
	98,728
	3,490
	9,783

	Administrative expenses
	     348,690
	358,507
	60,001
	77,233

	Depreciation
	       98,473
	111,096
	2,703
	15,326

	Loss for the period
	
	
	
	

	Loss after tax for the period 
	
	
	
	

	   from discontinued operation
	(3,778)
	-
	(3,778)
	-






(Unit: Thousand Baht)
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	Separate financial     statements

	
	For the six-month period ended 30 June 2010

	

	As
	As previously 
	As
	As previously 

	
	reclassified
	reported
	reclassified
	reported

	Revenue
	
	
	
	

	Revenue from hotel operations
	1,589,306
	1,891,534
	19,664
	321,892

	Expenses
	
	
	
	

	Cost of hotel operations
	619,505
	688,923
	5,074
	74,492

	Selling expenses
	197,554
	216,900
	6,683
	26,029

	Administrative expenses
	779,743
	813,205
	121,735
	169,990

	Depreciation
	196,700
	222,045
	5,527
	30,872

	Profit for the period
	
	
	
	

	Profit after tax for the period 
	
	
	
	

	   from discontinued operation
	100,939
	-
	100,939
	-


25.
Approval of interim financial statements


These interim financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 10 August 2011.
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